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QUESTION PRESENTED 

Whether the assertion of a federal due-process 
argument, assuming it was properly preserved in the 
first place, excuses failure to comply with a firmly 
established, regularly followed state procedural rule 
requiring a contemporaneous objection? 



 

 

ii

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

QUESTION PRESENTED ............................................ i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS ............................................... ii 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES ........................................ iv 

BRIEF IN OPPOSITION FOR 
RESPONDENTS ........................................................... 1 

COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE ................... 4 

A.  Proceedings Below ................................... 4 

B.  Misstatements of Fact and Law 
in the Petition .......................................... 8 

REASONS FOR DENYING THE PETITION ........... 12 

I.  KIA DID NOT TIMELY RAISE ITS 
NEW DUE-PROCESS ARGUMENT. ............. 12 

II.  KIA FAILED TO COMPLY WITH A 
FIRMLY ESTABLISHED AND 
REGULARLY APPLIED STATE 
PROCEDURAL RULE AND WAIVED 
APPELLATE REVIEW. ................................... 17 

III.  KIA’S COMPLAINT ABOUT 
AGGREGATE DAMAGES IS 
MERITLESS. .................................................... 27 

CONCLUSION ............................................................ 31 

 



 

 

iii

APPENDIX 

APPENDIX A: Jury Verdict Special 
Interrogatories (May, 27, 2005)  .................... 1a 

APPENDIX B: Amended Complaint – Class 
Action (Mar. 27, 2001) - Excerpt ................... 3a 

APPENDIX C: Defendant Kia Motors 
America, Inc.’s Supplemental Motion 
For Post-Trial Relief (July 15, 2005) ............. 5a 

 



 

 

iv

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

Cases 

Bankers Life & Casualty Co. v. Crenshaw, 486 
U.S. 77 (1988) ................................................. 16 

Boggavarapu v. Ponist, 542 A.2d 516 (Pa. 
1988) ............................................................... 28 

Bridge v. Phoenix Bond & Indemnity Co., 553 
U.S. 639 (2008) ............................................... 30 

Carter by Carter v. United States Steel Corp., 
604 A.2d 1010 (Pa. 1992) ............................... 26 

Castro v. United States, 540 U.S. 375 (2003) ........... 24 

Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722 (1991) ............ 21 

Commonwealth v. Bronaugh, 331 A.2d 171 
(Pa. 1975) ........................................................ 25 

Commonwealth v. VanDivner, 983 A.2d 1199 
(Pa. 2009) ........................................................ 15 

Connor v. Crozer Keystone Health System, 832 
A.2d 1112 (Pa. Super. 2003) .......................... 15 

Daffin v. Ford Motor Co., 458 F.3d 549 (6th 
Cir. 2006) ........................................................ 14 

Davis v. Wechsler, 263 U.S. 22 (1923) ................ 20, 22 

Dilliplaine v. Lehigh Valley Trust Co., 322 
A.2d 114 (Pa. 1974) .................................. 23, 26 

Douglas v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 415 (1965) ............... 22 



 

 

v

Duignan v. United States, 274 U.S. 195 (1927) ....... 12 

Elia v. Olszewski, 84 A.2d 188 (Pa. 1951) ................ 29 

Garcia v. Lewis, 188 F.3d 71 (2d Cir. 1999) ............ 21 

Greenlaw v. United States, 554 U.S. 237 (2008) ...... 24 

Henry v. Mississippi, 379 U.S. 443 (1965) ............... 22 

Herb v. Pitcairn, 324 U.S. 117 (1945) ...................... 21 

Holden v. Cole, 1 Pa. 303, 1845 WL 5091 (Pa. 
1845) ............................................................... 23 

Hoover v. Ronwin, 466 U.S. 558 (1984) ................... 15 

In re General Motors Corp. Pick-Up Truck 
Fuel Tank Products Liability Litigation, 
55 F.3d 768 (3d Cir. 1995) ................. 11, 29, 30 

In re Zurn Pex Plumbing Prod. Liab. Litig., 
644 F.3d 604 (8th Cir. 2011) .......................... 14 

James v. Kentucky, 466 U.S. 341 (1984) .................. 20 

Johnson v. Fankell, 520 U.S. 911 (1997) ................. 23 

Johnson v. Mississippi, 486 U.S. 578 (1988) ........... 21 

Jones v. United States, 527 U.S. 373 (1999) ............ 25 

Keller v. Volkswagen of America, Inc., 733 
A.2d 642 (Pa. Super. 1999) ............................ 28 

Lee v. Kemna, 534 U.S. 362 (2002) ............... 20, 21, 24 

Liss & Marion, P.C. v. Recordex Acquisition 
Corp., 983 A.2d 652 (Pa. 2009). ..................... 31 



 

 

vi

Matsushita Electric Industrial Co. v. Epstein, 
516 U.S. 367 (1996) ........................................ 12 

Mazer v. Stein, 347 U.S. 201 (1954) ......................... 15 

McLaughlin v. American Tobacco Co., 522 
F.3d 215 (2d Cir. 2008) .................................. 30 

NAACP v. State of Alabama ex. rel. Patterson, 
357 U.S. 449 (1958) ........................................ 22 

Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972) ........................... 2 

Osborne v. Ohio, 495 U.S. 103 (1990) ...................... 23 

Pella Corp. v. Saltzman, 606 F.3d 394 (7th Cir. 
2010) ............................................................... 14 

Reilly by Reilly v. Southeastern Pennsylvania 
Transportation Authority, 489 A.2d 
1291 (Pa. 1985) ............................................... 25 

Samuel-Bassett v. Kia Motors America, Inc., 
212 F.R.D. 271 (E.D. Pa. 2002), vacated 
and remanded on other grounds, 357 
F.3d 392 (3d Cir. 2004) ................................ 4, 9 

Smith v. Bayer Corp., --- U.S. ----, 131 S. Ct. 
2368 (2011) ............................................... 14, 31 

Smullin v. Harenski, 162 A. 319 (Pa. Super. 
1932) ................................................................. 7 

Staub v. City of Baxley, 355 U.S. 313 (1958) ........... 22 

Straub v. Cherne Indusries, 880 A.2d 561 (Pa. 
2005) ............................................................... 26 



 

 

vii

Takes v. Metropolitan Edison Co., 695 A.2d 
397 (Pa. 1997) ................................................. 23 

Taylor v. Freeland & Kronz, 503 U.S. 638 
(1992) ........................................................ 12, 16 

Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 400 (1988) ..................... 16 

United States v. Fuchs, 467 F.3d 889 (5th Cir. 
2006) ............................................................... 16 

United States v. Tirouda, 394 F.3d 683 (9th 
Cir. 2005) ........................................................ 16 

United States v. Torres, 901 F.2d 205 (2d Cir. 
1990) ............................................................... 16 

Wainwright v. Sykes, 433 U.S. 72 (1977) ................. 26 

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes, --- U.S. ----, 
131 S. Ct. 2541 (2011) .............................. 14, 15 

Wolin v. Jaguar Land Rover N. Am., LLC, 617 
F.3d 1168 (9th Cir. 2010) ............................... 14 

Youakim v. Miller, 425 U.S. 231 (1976) ................... 12 

Zeman v. Canonsburg Borough, 223 A.2d 728 
(Pa. 1966) ........................................................ 26 

Constitutional Provisions 

Pa. Const. Art. I, § 9 ................................................. 10 

U.S. Const. amend. XIV ...................................... 10, 12 

 



 

 

viii

Statutes 

13 Pa. Consol. Stat. §§ 2313 & 2314 28 

Magnuson-Moss Warranty Improvement Act, 
15 U.S.C. § 2310(d) 4, 29 

Pennsylvania Unfair Trade Practices and 
Consumer Protection Law, 73 Pa. 
Consol. Stat. §§201-2(4)(xiv) & 201-9.2 4 

U.C.C. § 2-714(1) 11, 29 

Other Authorities 

Conte, A. & H. Newberg, Newberg on Class 
Actions (4th ed. 2002) ..................................... 29 

Corbin on Contracts (Corbin ed. 1964) ..................... 28 

Restatement (Second) of Contracts (1979) .......... 28, 29 

Restatement (Second) of Contracts: Alternative 
to Loss in Value of Performance (1981) ......... 28 

Wright, Charles Alan, et al., Federal Practice 
& Procedure: Civil 2d (2d ed. 1995) .............. 20 

Wright, Charles Alan, et al., Federal Practice 
and Procedure (2d ed. 1996) .......................... 22 

Rules 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 ................................................ 14, 31 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 51 ...................................................... 20 

Fed. R. Evid. 103 ....................................................... 20 



 

 

ix

Pa. R. App. P. 302 ..................................................... 23 

Pa. R. Civ. P. 227.1 ................................................... 25 

Pa. R. Civ. P. 227.1(b)(1) .......................................... 24 

Pa. R. Civ. P. 227.1(b)(2) .......................................... 25 

  

 





 

 

1

BRIEF IN OPPOSITION FOR RESPONDENTS 

Respondent Shamell Samuel-Bassett, on her 
own behalf and as representative of a class of 
similarly situated persons, respectfully requests this 
Court deny the petition for writ of certiorari, seeking 
review of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court’s decision 
in this case. 

The Pennsylvania Supreme Court held that 
Petitioner Kia Motors America, Inc. failed to object 
contemporaneously to the basis on which class 
damages were assessed in this case. The 
contemporaneous-objection requirement is a nearly 
universal rule that all lawyers understand must be 
met, not some novel invention that can be described 
as a trap for the unwary. Even when a litigant 
invents a due-process argument in support of its 
position, compliance with the contemporaneous-
objection rule is mandatory to preserve an issue for 
appellate review. 

Before this Court, Kia asserts that the way the 
Pennsylvania court applied waiver to its post-trial 
objection improperly foreclosed its assertion of due-
process rights, yet Kia only asserted that due-process 
claim belatedly and only with respect to liability, not 
the damages issue it presents here. That untimely 
assertion of due process raises a serious question as 
to whether the issue presented here was even 
properly preserved. 

Still, at its essence, this case involves a factual 
dispute. Kia asserts that various motions and 
objections early in the case encompassed an ongoing 
objection to any assessment of classwide damages 
and thus fully complied with Pennsylvania’s 



 

 

2

longstanding contemporaneous-objection 
requirement. On the other hand, the Class 
successfully argued that none of the objections fairly 
embraced the damages-related objection Kia now 
advances. Moreover, the Class demonstrated through 
the record that Kia affirmatively disclaimed any 
objection when the trial court directly asked whether 
Kia objected to any of the jury interrogatories and 
jury instructions that established the classwide 
damages. The Pennsylvania courts authoritatively 
resolved the factual dispute in the Class’s favor.1 Kia 
now seeks certiorari in the hope that this Court will 
examine the trial record and resolve the dispute 
differently from the determination made by the 
Pennsylvania courts, while boldly and incongruously 
suggesting that such a dispute can be resolved by 
summary disposition. 

Moreover, of the many objections and 
interlocutory reviews Kia sought throughout this 
more-than-decade-old litigation, Kia never advanced 
the due-process claim it now asserts until a patently 
inadequate mention in its application for rehearing 
before the Pennsylvania Supreme Court. Kia’s 
Petition glosses over its failure by asserting that the 
record is “replete” with objections, even though it is 
unable to point to one that is material to its current 
argument. Instead, as Kia told the Pennsylvania 
Supreme Court in its Application for Reargument, its 
“challenge was a sufficiency and weight challenge,” 

                                            
1 This Court’s longstanding rule of practice is that it 

“does not lightly overturn the concurrent findings of fact of two 
lower federal courts.” Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 193 n.3 
(1972). There is no reason the same salutary practice and 
respect should not be accorded state courts. 



 

 

3

which was allegedly “timely raised by post-trial 
motion.” Kia Appl. for Reargument 7 (filed Dec. 16, 
2011). This fact-bound dispute neither qualifies for 
summary disposition nor the exercise of this Court’s 
certiorari jurisdiction. 

In addition, Kia premises its new due-process 
objection about the assessment of classwide damages 
on a conflation of the contract measure of damages, 
which considers the diminished value and cost to 
cure the defectively designed vehicle and was 
properly assessed uniformly among members of the 
class by the trial court here, with the tort measure of 
damages, which could be different among class 
members and potentially dependent on individual 
circumstances. 

Finally, even if Kia’s due-process argument 
had been properly presented and denied below, it has 
misstated this Court’s jurisprudence on when a 
state’s procedural rules are ineffective to foreclose 
consideration of an asserted federal right. Contrary 
to Kia’s contention that a State must justify its rule 
in each and every instance where a hypothetical 
federal right is claimed, this Court’s jurisprudence 
makes plain that the proper test is whether the state 
rule is firmly established and regularly applied. Kia 
has not, and cannot, show that Pennsylvania’s 
venerable contemporaneous-objection rule is 
anything but firmly established and regularly 
applied. Moreover, Kia has not asserted, let alone 
demonstrated, that Pennsylvania made extravagant 
and extreme use of the rule here. The Petition should 
be denied. 
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COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Proceedings Below 

This class action was commenced in January 
2001, alleging that the 1995-2000 Kia Sephia 
automobiles suffered from a common defect in the 
braking system that failed to dissipate heat and 
resulted in premature wear, warping and run-out of 
the front brake pads and rotors. Named plaintiff 
Shamell Samuel-Bassett was the purchaser of a 2000 
Sephia with an extended warranty of sixty months or 
60,000 miles, whose car needed brake repairs 
prematurely and repeatedly, suffering from an 
inability to stop, increased stopping distances, 
unpredictable and violent brake pressures, lock-up 
and vibration, and loss of control. The complaint 
alleged four causes of action: breach of express 
warranty, breach of implied warranty of 
merchantability, violation of the Magnuson-Moss 
Warranty Improvement Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2310(d), and 
violation of the Pennsylvania Unfair Trade Practices 
and Consumer Protection Law (“UTPCPL”), 73 Pa. 
Consol. Stat. §§ 201-2(4)(xiv) & 201-9.2. Kia had 
warranted its Sephias to be “free from defects in 
material and workmanship.” Pet. App. 49a. 

Kia successfully removed the case to federal 
court, where the class was certified. 212 F.R.D. 271 
(E.D. Pa. 2003). Kia then appealed, and the Third 
Circuit remanded the case to determine whether the 
amount in controversy satisfied diversity 
jurisdiction. 357 F.3d 392, 403 (3d Cir. 2004). Upon 
agreement of the parties that the amount was 
insufficient, the district court remanded the case to 
the Philadelphia County Court of Common Pleas on 
April 8, 2004, which subsequently certified the class 
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and later limited the class to purchasers of the model 
years 1997-2000. Samuel-Bassett’s UTPCPL claim 
was not certified, and she was permitted to proceed 
on it individually. Kia had opposed certification, 
arguing that it would also require individual claims 
proceedings on the issues of causation, 
manifestation, and damages that would involve 
“thousands of mini hearings, which would take 
years,” and the class was therefore unmanageable. 
Pet. App. 40a. On appeal without developing the 
argument, which the Pennsylvania Supreme Court 
regarded as a fatal flaw, Kia reiterated that more 
than 9,000 “individual post-verdict class [sic] 
proceedings in and of itself would have 
overwhelmingly established that class certification 
was improper in the first instance.” Quoted at id. 

At the end of the 11-day trial in May 2005, Kia 
moved unsuccessfully for a directed verdict on the 
warranty and Magnuson-Moss claims. The jury 
returned a verdict in favor of the class on the claim 
for breach of express warranty and awarded cost-to-
cure damages of $600 per class member for “repair 
expenses, reasonably incurred” and nothing for the 
diminished value of the car as a result of the defect. 
The jury rejected the implied-warranty claim. The 
parties had stipulated that the correct number of 
class members was 9,402, so the trial court, without 
objection and in conformance with the jury’s per 
class member assessment, multiplied that number 
by $600, resulting in a total of $5,641,200. By 
stipulation of the parties, Samuel-Bassett was 
awarded $1,800 for her individual UTPCPL claim, 
which was treble the contractual damages award. 
Despite repeated opportunities to voice any 
objections to this process, Kia affirmatively told the 
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trial court it had none. Pet. App. 130a, 184a, 191a-
94a, 196a-97a. 

About two weeks later, represented by new 
counsel, Kia filed a post-trial motion for judgment 
notwithstanding the verdict or, in the alternative, for 
a new trial. It then moved to stay consideration, 
pending a decision in a federal case in Florida. 
Judgment was eventually entered on the verdict. 

The parties cross-appealed and, ultimately, 
the Superior Court affirmed the judgment of the trial 
court. The Pennsylvania Supreme Court granted 
Kia’s petition for review to decide a number of issues, 
all based on the class’s breach of express warranty 
verdict. Pet. App. 8a-9a, 17a n.10. Of those issues, 
the only one that raised any due-process question 
was an issue concerning liability rather than 
damages, and, as formulated by Kia, stated: 

Whether, in an issue of first impression, 
the trial court violated the defendant’s 
due process rights by entering judgment 
for the entire range of class members 
without requiring proof of breach of all 
of their express limited warranty 
contracts? 

Pet. App. 9a. The court later restated that issue as 
“whether the jury’s verdict was properly molded to 
account for the 9,402 members of the class.”2 Pet. 
App. 10a. 

                                            
2 The Class disputes the description of this verdict as 

“molded,” because the jury was asked and did determine the 
damages owed each class member. See Jury Verdict Form 1. A 
“molded” verdict requires the court to amend the verdict to 
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The Pennsylvania Supreme Court ruled (1) 
that class certification was appropriate as liability 
was premised on a common source of liability, that 
being a common brake defect (Pet. App. 10a-36a); (2) 
that the evidence was sufficient to establish a class-
wide breach of express warranty claim and that 
testimony supported a verdict of up to $1,005 per 
class member for the costs to cure the defect over the 
life of the vehicle (Pet. App. 59a); (3) that the trial 
court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the 
verdict was not against the weight of the evidence 
(Pet. App. 61a) and that the class’s expert offered 
probative testimony of aggregate cost to cure 
damages for the class that went unchallenged on due 
process or any other grounds (Pet. App. 64a-65a);3 (4) 
that Kia’s objections to the “molded” verdict were a 
reassertion of its class certification and sufficiency of 
the evidence claims, which were rejected (Pet. App. 
66a) and otherwise were waived because the 
objections were not timely lodged, appearing for the 
first time in a post-verdict motion after having 
agreed to the procedure at trial (Pet. 71a-76a); (5) 
that the trial court properly awarded attorney fees 
(Pet. App. 81a); and (6) that the trial court erred in 
using a multiplier to enhance the amount of attorney 
fees (Pet. App. 98a). Kia’s application for reargument 
was denied on January 24, 2012. Pet. App. 232a. 

                                                                                          
reflect the jury’s obvious but otherwise deficient intent. See 
Smullin v. Harenski, 162 A. 319, 320 (Pa. Super. 1932). 

3 On appeal, Kia only asserted that the testimony was 
solely directed to Samuel-Bassett’s damages and not to 
aggregate damages, but the Pennsylvania Supreme Court 
found this assertion at odds with the record. Pet. App. 65a. 
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B. Misstatements of Fact and Law in 
the Petition 

1. At the outset of its rendition of the case, 
Kia asserts that the trial court entered an order for 
individualized claims proceedings to determine each 
class member’s relief following Kia’s “timely 
objection to calculating damages on a collective, 
classwide basis.” Pet. 2. As the dissenter in the 
Pennsylvania Supreme Court points out, 
misunderstandings by both parties yielded an 
“ongoing controversy” about the resolution of 
damages. Pet. App. 104a. In fact, the trial court, 
early on, took the position that no individualized 
damage assessment was necessary but then issued 
an order that, as the dissenter explained, anticipated 
“some sort of undefined claims process.” Pet. App. 
104a-05a, characterizing Order of May 16, 2005 (Pet. 
App. 203a). It is on that undefined order that Kia 
places considerable weight as “calling for 
individualized claims proceedings,” despite the trial 
court’s later abandonment of that process and to 
which Kia never voiced objection. 

Moreover, the “timely objection to calculating 
damages” that Kia asserts, was merely a motion for 
bifurcation to try liability and damages separately 
and was denied. See Pet. App. 169a. It did not reveal 
any issue with the classwide calculation of damages, 
which the Class never conceded, as Kia claims, to be 
a problem. Instead, the Class’s consistent position 
was that damages would be measured as the federal 
trial court had presumed they would be: “fairly easily 
calculated on behalf of the class as a whole.” Samuel-
Bassett v. Kia Motors Am., Inc., 212 F.R.D. 271, 281 
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(E.D. Pa. 2002), vacated and remanded on other 
grounds, 357 F.3d 392 (3d Cir. 2004). 

Kia subsequently contradicted its position on 
claims proceedings when it argued against class 
certification and told the court that individual claims 
proceedings on the issues of causation, 
manifestation, and damages would involve 
“thousands of mini hearings, which would take 
years,” and thus make a class unmanageable. Pet. 
App. 40a. 

2. Contrary to its portrayal, Pet. 3, Kia’s 
post-trial motion did not raise any due process issue 
with the verdict. Although the motion conflicted with 
Kia’s prior representations to the trial court that it 
was satisfied with the way the jury had been 
instructed to determine damages on a classwide 
basis and how classwide damages would be 
calculated, it only asserted an alleged due process 
violation for unordered “claims proceedings.” It 
specified 31 assertions of error that were later 
supplemented and trimmed to 24 claims. Number 
nine of the latter group asserted, rather inexplicably, 
that the 

time for determining whether class 
members have claims against KMA is at 
trial, not “at claims proceedings” 
following trial and verdict. The trial 
court’s inclusion of members in the class 
who in fact have no claim against KMA 
violated KMA’s right to due process 
under Article I, Section 9 of the 
Pennsylvania Constitution and the 
Fourteenth Amendment to the United 
States Constitution. 
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Kia Supplemental Mot. for Post-Trial Relief ¶ 9 (filed 
July 15, 2005); App. 12a. 

Number 10, the only other allegation of error 
to assert a constitutional violation, averred that the 

trial court’s certification of the class and 
entry of a molded verdict in favor of all 
class members in the absence of 
testimony that established liability 
under the Magnuson-Moss Act and for 
breach of express warranty violated 
KMA’s right to due process under 
Article I, Section 9 of the Pennsylvania 
Constitution and the Fourteenth 
Amendment to the United States 
Constitution. 

Id. at ¶ 10. 

Neither assertion of due process challenged 
the manner in which damages were calculated. The 
sole focus of both was on the use of the class 
mechanism for liability purposes. 

3. Kia claims that in filing this action the 
“class made no allegations that the brakes failed to 
stop vehicles safely.” Pet. 4. However, the amended 
complaint plainly states that the “defective brake 
system . . . substantially affects their use, value, and 
safety . . . causing the Sephia vehicle to be unable to 
stop, suffer an impaired stopping performance, 
exhibit increased stopping distances, brake shudder, 
brake vibration, unpredictable and violent brake 
pedal pressures, brake lock up, and loss of control.” 
Am. Compl. ¶ 2; App. 3a-4a. 
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4. Kia repeatedly asserts that “damages (if 
any) differed wildly among class members.” See, e.g., 
Pet. 8. Yet, that assertion conflates tort-based 
damages with breach of contract damages of the type 
awarded here. While each class member spent 
different out-of-pocket amounts for repairs, 
uncontradicted expert testimony established that 
cost to cure repair costs for the vehicles would 
amount to $1,005 over the life of the car. Each class 
member was entitled to recover sufficient funds to 
permit the purchaser to effectuate all necessary 
foreseeable repairs. See, e.g., In re Gen. Motors Corp. 
Pick-Up Truck Fuel Tank Prods. Liab. Litig., 55 F.3d 
768, 816-17 (3d Cir. 1995) (citing U.C.C. § 2-714(1)). 
The $600 per claimant awarded was well within that 
uncontested testimony. 

5. While Kia asserts that it did not have to 
“repeatedly re-raise the issue of how to calculate 
each class member’s individualized damages,” Pet. 9, 
it has failed to demonstrate that it raised that issue 
even once. On the other hand, the record 
demonstrates that Kia repeatedly voiced no objection 
when asked to the trial court’s approach to damages. 
See Pet. App. 130a, 184a, 191a-94a. 196a-97a. 

6. The jury did not return a verdict for 
Samuel-Bassett, as Kia contends, Pet. 9, but 
determined that Kia “breach[ed] its express 
warranty on the cars purchased by the class” and 
found the amount of damages “sustained by each 
Class member” to be $600. Jury Verdict Special 
Interrogs; App. 1a-2a. 
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REASONS FOR DENYING THE PETITION 

I. KIA DID NOT TIMELY RAISE ITS NEW 
DUE-PROCESS ARGUMENT. 

Kia’s Petition contends that Pennsylvania 
violated Due Process when it permitted aggregation 
to award class damages and improperly foreclosed 
consideration of that argument through application 
of its longstanding and familiar contemporaneous-
objection rule. Yet, Kia never presented the due-
process argument it now asserts either at trial or 
before the Pennsylvania Supreme Court. That latter 
court specifically held that Kia “did not object to the 
introduction of aggregate damages evidence on due 
process or other grounds, and did not introduce any 
evidence to rebut the class expert’s damages 
testimony.” Pet. App. 58a. 

This Court has repeatedly adhered to its 
declaration that “ordinarily, this Court does not 
decide questions not raised or resolved in the lower 
court.” Youakim v. Miller, 425 U.S. 231, 234 (1976). 
See also Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Epstein, 516 
U.S. 367, 379 n.5 (1996) (Court “generally do[es] not 
address arguments that were not the basis for the 
decision below.”); Duignan v. United States, 274 U.S. 
195, 200 (1927) (same). 

While this limitation on issues eligible for 
review comprises a prudential consideration, rather 
than a restriction on jurisdiction, this Court has 
made plain that it will not depart from that general 
rule absent a showing of “‘unusual circumstances.”’ 
Taylor v. Freeland & Kronz, 503 U.S. 638, 646 (1992) 
(citation omitted). Kia has neither shown nor even 
argued that the unusual-circumstances exception 
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applies here to explain its failure to raise the due-
process issue it now presents. Plainly, as a review of 
the record demonstrates, no unusual circumstances 
occurred. 

Kia’s only assertion of due process in the 
Pennsylvania courts was part of its challenge to class 
certification and the sufficiency of the evidence of 
liability. Thus, for example, Kia’s post-trial motion 
asserted a due process violation for including 
“members in the class who in fact have no claim 
against KMA” and for certifying the class and “entry 
of a molded verdict in favor of all class members in 
the absence of testimony that established liability.” 
Kia Supplemental Mot. for Post-Trial Relief ¶ 9 & 
10; App. 12a. See also Pet. App. 66a (due process 
asserted as a test of sufficiency); 70a (the “basis for 
its due process claim” is Kia’s “prior claims of trial 
court error regarding the sufficiency and weight of 
the evidence to justify the jury’s verdict”); 73a (“On 
appeal, KMA insists that absent reversal and 
decertification of the class, KMA’s due process rights 
will have been violated.”) (citing Kia’s Brief 30-32; 
Kia’s Reply Brief 12 n.12 (footnote omitted)). At no 
time did Kia raise due process with respect to the 
assessment of damages. 

Kia, in fact, “discovered” its claimed federal 
due-process objection to this judgment only after 
completing the appellate review process in 
Pennsylvania. As a result, it failed to present and 
have denied the issue upon which it now seeks this 
Court’s disposition. 

In supplemental briefing to the Pennsylvania 
Supreme Court, filed after this Court’s decision in 
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes, --- U.S. ----, 131 S. Ct. 



 

 

14

2541 (2011), Kia argued for an analysis under 
Pennsylvania’s cognate provision to Fed. R. Civ. P. 
23 similar to what this Court found mandatory 
under the federal rule. Due process was mentioned 
in passing only in the context of Wal-Mart. 
Specifically, Kia argued, without citation to any 
authority for the point, that Pennsylvania’s “liberal 
construction” in favor of class certification “runs 
afoul of the Due Process Clause.” Kia Appl. for Reh’g 
12 (citing state cases denying certification post-Wal-
Mart that do not turn on due process; two of the 
three citations actually do not mention the words 
“due process”).4 Although Kia cited cases indicating 
that state procedural defaults that do not serve a 
legitimate state interest cannot waive federal rights, 
Kia made no independent due-process argument 
other than to assert that the Pennsylvania Supreme 
Court “ignored the compelling authority” of Wal-
Mart, erroneously arguing that it “articulates the 
limits on class certification imposed by the Due 
Process Clause of the United States Constitution.” 
Id. at 9, 11.5 Kia concluded this section of its brief by 

                                            
4 The weight of federal authority before and after Wal-

Mart comes down heavily in favor of class certification for 
consumer product warranty claims such as those certified here.  
See, e.g., In re Zurn Pex Plumbing Prod. Liab. Litig., 644 F.3d 
604 (8th Cir. 2011); Pella Corp. v. Saltzman, 606 F.3d 394 (7th 
Cir. 2010); Wolin v. Jaguar Land Rover N. Am., LLC, 617 F.3d 
1168 (9th Cir. 2010); Daffin v. Ford Motor Co., 458 F.3d 549 
(6th Cir. 2006). 

5 This Court specifically declined to answer the due-
process question presented in Wal-Mart, instead basing its 
decision specifically on its construction of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23. In 
a decision one week earlier, this Court also declined to force 
States to read their class action rules, even if identically 
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commending this Court’s Wal-Mart reasoning to the 
Pennsylvania Supreme Court. Id. at 13. Because 
Wal-Mart decidedly did not articulate due-process 
limits on class actions, even this belated assertion of 
due-process rights is ineffective. See Connor v. 
Crozer Keystone Health Sys., 832 A.2d 1112, 1118 
(Pa. Super. 2003) (failure to cite authority supporting 
position, even for a constitutional claim, constitutes 
waiver). Cf. Mazer v. Stein, 347 U.S. 201, 208 n.5 
(1954) (“fact that the issue was mentioned in 
argument does not bring the question properly before 
us”) (citation omitted). 

Permitting a party, after both trial and 
multiple appeals, to “discover” new arguments in 
order to keep a case alive after it has exhausted 
review in a State’s court system undermines the 
orderly administration of justice, as well as 
fundamental precepts of fairness. A court properly 
looks askance at such a request in order to prevent 
parties from withholding arguments in order to 
preserve a ground for appeal. 

Equally problematic is Kia’s discovery of due 
process more generally in its application for 
rehearing in the state supreme court, which under 
its rules will not entertain a new issue at that late 
stage. Commonwealth v. VanDivner, 983 A.2d 1199, 
1201 (Pa. 2009). See also Hoover v. Ronwin, 466 U.S. 
558, 574 n.25 (1984) (argument raised for the first 
time in motion for rehearing in court below is 
untimely and “precludes” consideration). 

                                                                                          
worded, the same way. Smith v. Bayer Corp., --- U.S. ----, 131 S. 
Ct. 2368 (2011). 
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This case presents no warrant to depart from 
the sound policy of denying certiorari to issues first 
raised in the petition to this Court. This Court has 
consistently rejected any approach to its certiorari 
jurisdiction that allows “able counsel who argue 
before us to alter these questions [presented below] 
or to devise additional questions at the last minute.” 
Taylor, 503 U.S. at 646. Thus, just as a “generic 
reference to the Fourteenth Amendment is not 
sufficient to preserve a constitutional claim based on 
an unidentified provision of the Bill of Rights,” 
Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 400, 407 n.9 (1988), and a 
“party may not preserve a constitutional challenge 
by generally invoking the Constitution in state court 
and awaiting review in this Court to specify the 
constitutional provision it is relying upon,” Bankers 
Life & Cas. Co. v. Crenshaw, 486 U.S. 71, 77 (1988), 
a party may not make a categorically different 
argument based on the same constitutional provision 
and expect the courts to treat it as satisfying the 
presentation and denial requirements of this Court’s 
jurisprudence. See, e.g., United States v. Tirouda, 
394 F.3d 683, 688 (9th Cir. 2005) (objection not 
preserved because stated grounds for objection 
differed on appeal); United States v. Fuchs, 467 F.3d 
889, 900 (5th Cir. 2006) (same); United States v. 
Torres, 901 F.2d 205, 227-28 (2d Cir. 1990) (same). 
Certiorari should be denied. 
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II. KIA FAILED TO COMPLY WITH A 
FIRMLY ESTABLISHED AND 
REGULARLY APPLIED STATE 
PROCEDURAL RULE AND WAIVED 
APPELLATE REVIEW. 

Kia failed to object to the trial court’s 
approach to assessing classwide damages at any time 
when it could have preserved the issue for appeal. 
Although Kia raised a number of objections to the 
trial court’s various rulings, none were directed to 
the manner in which classwide damages were 
considered and assessed. Instead, Kia’s objections 
largely went to whether the class should be certified, 
denial of its motion to bifurcate liability and 
damages, the qualifications of the Class’s expert 
witnesses, and the weight and sufficiency of the 
evidence. See Pet. App. 162a, 168a, 169a, 170a, 171a. 
The Pennsylvania Supreme Court also found these 
objections preserved other issues but not the 
damages issue. Pet. App. 58a, 74a. Even the 
dissenter in that court, who Kia quotes for indicating 
that the record is “replete” with Kia’s objections (Pet. 
115a), identifies those objections as solely embracing 
class certification, the expert testimony, and the trial 
court’s failure to require individual proof of 
individual claims.6 Pet. App. 115a. That request for 
individualized proof was aimed at individual trials 
with respect to each class member’s “reliance, 
manifestation, notice and opportunity to cure, 
causation, and damages.” Pet. App. 75a n.31. It 

                                            
6 The majority describes the dissenter’s version of Kia’s 

issues on “proof and determination of individual damages” as 
“different[], and certainly more cogent[], than [Kia’s 
articulation] . . . either at trial or on appeal.” Pet. App. 65a. 
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provided no fair indication that any calculation of 
classwide damages would provide grounds for 
appeal. 

The Class offered expert testimony to 
establish aggregate damages. Kia “had the 
opportunity to object that it was incompetent to the 
task or violated [Kia]’s right to due process (or other 
rights) to cross-examine the witness on the weakness 
of his methodology, or rebut the argument with 
evidence of its own.” Pet. App. 64a-65a. It did none of 
this. Pet. App. 64a. 

Another missed opportunity for pertinent 
objection came at the jury-instruction and jury-
interrogatory stage. The trial court plainly indicated 
that both the instructions and verdict sheet would 
seek a determination of the damages “sustained by 
each class member.” Pet. App. 71a. The trial court 
specifically asked Kia’s counsel whether “there were 
any objections to the questions on the jury verdict 
form as explained and KMA’s counsel responded ‘No, 
Your Honor.’”7 Pet. App. 71a (citing N.T. vol. 7, 70-
73, May 25, 2005). After the jury was instructed to 
determine the damages sustained by each class 
member and told the stipulated number of class 
members (9,402), the trial court brought counsel to 
the bench for a sidebar to make sure, again, there 

                                            
7 Kia attempts to excuse its failure to answer otherwise 

by pointing to its own proposed interrogatories, which were 
limited to asking the jury to determine whether the Sephia 
models shared a common brake system and shared a common 
defect. Pet. 19 n.9. Those two questions, however, do not place 
any limitation on damages or preclude aggregation. As with 
other actions at trial, Kia’s objection and alternative requests 
do not fairly embrace the issue Kia brings before this Court. 
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were no objections to that instruction and received 
assurances from both sides that there were none. 
Pet. App. 72a. Only then was the jury released to 
commence deliberations. Pet. App. 72a. Even after 
that, the trial court asked counsel if they had 
anything else for the court to address and was told 
that there was nothing. Pet. App. 73a. 

Before the Pennsylvania Supreme Court, Kia 
conceded that it first raised any objection to the 
molding of the verdict in a post-trial motion.8 Pet. 
App. 73a, 74a. That court found the objection 
untimely “under the circumstances” and inconsistent 
with the requirements of state law. Thus, it held Kia 

failed to object to the verdict sheets 
when composed and offered to the jury, 
to the related jury charge, or, at the 
latest, contemporaneous with the actual 
molding of the verdict. As a result, the 
issue of whether the May 16th Order 
precluded the trial court from molding 
the verdict was waived. 

Pet. App. 74a. See also Pet. App. 76a. 

Kia now insists that the Pennsylvania 
Supreme Court may not rest on its 
contemporaneous-objection rule because Kia has 
asserted a federal constitutional flaw in the trial. 

                                            
8 Even at that late stage, Kia’s objection to the molding 

of the verdict was premised only on allocating $600 per class 
member without individualized evidence of liability or out-of-
pocket costs. Pet. App. 66a. It has abandoned the first issue; the 
second issue misapprehends the nature of damages in a breach 
of warranty/contract case. See pp. 27-30 infra. 
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Even assuming arguendo that Kia timely raised and 
thus preserved its due-process claim,9 Kia has 
misstated the applicable law. It argues that the 
Pennsylvania Supreme Court bears the burden to 
justify its longstanding and otherwise garden-variety 
requirement10 that litigants make timely objections 
at trial to obtain later appellate review as applied to 
this specific factual circumstance. Pet. 20a-21a. In so 
arguing, Kia plainly misunderstands this Court’s 
precedents on when a state procedural rule is 
sufficient to foreclose further review, even when a 
party asserts federal rights. 

It is true that this Court once said that 
“[w]hatever springes the State may set for those who 
are endeavoring to assert rights that the State 
confers, the assertion of Federal rights, when plainly 
and reasonably made, is not to be defeated under the 
name of local practice.” Davis v. Wechsler, 263 U.S. 
22, 24 (1923) (emphasis added). Nonetheless, this 
Court subsequently made clear that “[o]rdinarily, 

                                            
9 It is ironic that Kia has argued that its untimely 

assertion of a federal due-process argument excuses its 
untimely assertion of objections to the assessment of classwide 
damages. 

10 Pennsylvania’s rule is similar to and no more 
demanding than its federal counterpart. Cf. Fed. R. Civ. P. 51 
(requiring objection at the time the court informs the party of 
its proposed instruction in order to be timely); Fed. R. Evid. 103 
(requiring contemporaneous objections, otherwise waived); see 
also 11 Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Mary Kay 
Kane, Federal Practice & Procedure: Civil 2d § 2805, at 57-58 
(2d ed. 1995) (“A principle that strikes very deep is that a new 
trial will not be granted on grounds not called to the court’s 
attention during the trial unless the error was so fundamental 
that gross injustice would result.”). 
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violation of ‘firmly established and regularly 
followed’ state rules . . . will be adequate to foreclose 
review of a federal claim.” Lee v. Kemna, 534 U.S. 
362, 376 (2002) (quoting James v. Kentucky, 466 U.S. 
341, 348 (1984)). 

That statement acknowledges, as this Court 
has done on repeated occasions, that the Court lacks 
jurisdiction to review a state court’s resolution of an 
issue of federal law if the state court’s decision rests 
on an adequate and independent state ground. See 
Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 729 (1991); 
Herb v. Pitcairn, 324 U.S. 117, 125-26 (1945). A state 
rule is adequate if it is regularly or consistently 
applied by the state court. See Johnson v. 
Mississippi, 486 U.S. 578, 587 (1988). Courts err on 
the side of acquiescing to the state rule because 
“principles of comity that drive the doctrine counsel 
that a federal court that deems a state procedural 
rule inadequate should not reach that conclusion 
‘lightly or without clear support in state law.’” 
Garcia v. Lewis, 188 F.3d 71, 77 (2d Cir. 1999) 
(citation omitted). 

It is only in the “limited category” of 
“exceptional cases,” essentially those cases when a 
court engages in an “exorbitant application of a 
generally sound rule,” that a state bar may prove 
inadequate. Lee, 534 U.S. at 376. Thus, in Lee, an 
“unusual sequence” of “rapidly unfolding events that 
[the litigant] and his counsel could not have foreseen, 
and for which they were not at all responsible” place 
the case “within the small category of cases in which 
asserted state grounds are inadequate to block 
adjudication of a federal claim.” Id. at 381. First, the 
trial judge denied Lee’s motion on grounds that even 
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perfect compliance with the procedures could not 
have overcome. Id. Second, “no published [state] 
decision direct[ed] flawless compliance.” Id. Finally, 
“and most important, given ‘the realities of trial,’ Lee 
substantially complied with [the state’s] key Rule.” 
Id. No comparable series of rapidly unfolding and 
surprising events took place here that would throw 
doubt on the validity of the state rule in these 
circumstances. 

Established state rules have also been set 
aside as inadequate only when they appear 
calculated to discriminate against federal law, or, as 
one leading treatise puts it, when the state rule fails 
to afford a litigant “a reasonable opportunity to 
assert federal rights.” 16B Charles Alan Wright, 
Arthur Miller, & Edward Cooper, Federal Practice 
and Procedure, § 4027, p. 392 (2d ed. 1996). See, e.g., 
Douglas v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 415, 422-23 (1965) 
(rule requiring continuous repetition of identical 
constitutional objections); Davis, 263 U.S. at 24 (rule 
waiving jurisdictional objections upon entry of 
appearance of federal defendant’s successor-in-
interest). 

To be valid, this Court has held that the state 
rule must not be novel or sprung upon a litigant 
without notice, NAACP v. State of Alabama ex. rel. 
Patterson, 357 U.S. 449, 457 (1958), or amount to an 
“arid ritual of meaningless form.” Staub v. City of 
Baxley, 355 U.S. 313, 320 (1958). Pennsylvania’s 
contemporaneous-objection rule does not fit within 
these problematic categories and was not given 
hyper-technical application here. There can be little 
doubt that a litigant today has notice of this 
longstanding rule. Even when the rule is unfamiliar 



 

 

23

or irregularly followed, a court may justify its 
application in the context of the specific factual 
circumstances. Henry v. Mississippi, 379 U.S. 443, 
448-49 (1965). 

Pennsylvania’s rule satisfies the firmly 
established, regularly applied standard. Its highest 
court has held it “axiomatic that in order to preserve 
a trial objection for review, trial counsel is required 
to make a timely, specific objection during trial.” 
Takes v. Metro. Edison Co., 695 A.2d 397, 400 (Pa. 
1997) (citation omitted). As early as 1845, the 
Pennsylvania Supreme Court noted the need for such 
a contemporaneous objection and recited that even at 
that early date it was so well established that “any 
lawyer would have known [it] to be necessary.” 
Holden v. Cole, 1 Pa. 303, 1845 WL 5091, *5 (Pa. 
1845). 

In its leading modern case, Dilliplaine v. 
Lehigh Valley Trust Co., 322 A.2d 114 (Pa. 1974), the 
Pennsylvania Supreme Court explained that an issue 
cannot be preserved for appeal without timely 
objection during trial; otherwise the trial court lacks 
a full opportunity to correct any errors at the time 
they allegedly occurred. Id. at 116. Similarly, this 
Court has said that the rule rests on “the general 
principle that an objection which is ample and timely 
to bring the alleged federal error to the attention of 
the trial court and enable it to take appropriate 
corrective action is sufficient to serve legitimate 
state interests, and therefore sufficient to preserve 
the claim for review.” Osborne v. Ohio, 495 U.S. 103, 
125 (1990) (quotation omitted). Thus, it is clear that, 
as in Johnson v. Fankell, 520 U.S. 911, 918-19 
(1997), the Pennsylvania Supreme Court’s ruling 
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“rest[s] squarely on a neutral state Rule regarding 
the administration of the state courts.” 

The contemporaneous-objection rule is codified 
in several places in the Pennsylvania rules. The 
appellate rules make plain that “[i]ssues not raised 
in the lower court are waived and cannot be raised 
for the first time on appeal.” Pa. R. App. P. 302. Its 
civil procedure counterpart contains a similar 
requirement. Its notes state “[i]f no objection is 
made, error which could have been corrected in pre-
trial proceedings or during trial by timely objection 
may not constitute a ground for post-trial relief.” Pa. 
R. Civ. P. 227.1(b)(1) note. 

These rules are informed by, and illustrative 
of, our adversary system’s principle of party 
presentation, which “require[s] that a party to 
litigation take responsibility for the jury instructions 
that a trial court either gives or refuses to give.” Pet. 
App. 14a; see also Greenlaw v. United States, 554 
U.S. 237, 243-44 (2008) (discussing the party-
presentation principle); Castro v. United States, 540 
U.S. 375, 386 (2003) (Scalia, J., concurring in part, 
concurring in judgment) (“Our adversary system is 
designed around the premise that the parties know 
what is best for them, and are responsible for 
advancing the facts and arguments entitling them to 
relief.”). Thus, allegations of error that cause the 
trial court to guess at the target of the objection or to 
make it for the party are insufficient. 

Yet Kia assumes no responsibility for the fact 
that it whiffed on several opportunities to alert the 
trial court to its objections and assumes no 
responsibility for its giving that court every 
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indication that it was satisfied with the court’s 
approach to class damages. 

Instead, Kia seizes on language in Lee that 
suggests a state procedural bar is determined with 
reference to the “particular application” of the rule 
and that the rule must do more than “generally 
serve[] a legitimate state interest.” 534 U.S. at 387. 
In other words, Kia insists that the Pennsylvania 
Supreme Court’s explanation that the 
contemporaneous-objection rule “allow[s] the [trial] 
court to take corrective measures and thereby avert 
the time and expense of appeals or new trials,” Pet. 
76a, is inadequate given the circumstances of this 
case. Kia explains it was not seeking a new trial or 
new appeal. Pet. 21. But its motion for post-trial 
relief expressly sought either judgment 
notwithstanding the verdict or a new trial. Kia Mot. 
for Post-Trial Relief 1 (filed Jun. 10, 2005). Moreover, 
Kia ignores the Class’s right to appeal if both the 
evidence adduced at trial and the jury’s 
determination were set aside post-verdict. The rule 
plainly requires that objections to the jury form and 
charge precede dismissal of the jury—and be “at 
trial.” Pa. R. Civ. P. 227.1(b)(2). Cf. Jones v. United 
States, 527 U.S. 373, 387 (1999) (“A party generally 
may not assign error to a jury instruction if he fails 
to object before the jury retires.”). The explanatory 
comment to Rule 227.1 requires that a motion for 
post-trial relief state the specific grounds for the 
relief sought and ‘how the grounds were asserted in 
pre-trial proceedings or at trial.’”11 An approach that 

                                            
11 Based on this approach, parties understand that “to 

preserve an issue for appeal, a litigant must make a timely, 
specific objection at trial and must raise the issue on post-trial 
motions.” Reilly by Reilly v. Se. Penn. Transp. Auth., 489 A.2d 
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eschewed these requirements would permit endless 
appeals on grounds, like these, only discovered or 
fabricated after trial. 

Any rule that permits a litigant like Kia to 
revive its case, post-trial, with newly minted 
objections works against finality, “results in the trial 
becoming merely a dress rehearsal,” “removes the 
professional necessity for trial counsel to be prepared 
to litigate the case fully at trial and to create a 
record adequate for appellate review,” and rewards 
the “ill-prepared advocate[]” with “relief despite his 
failure at trial to object to an alleged error.” 
Dilliplaine, 322 A.2d at 116. See also Carter by 
Carter v. United States Steel Corp., 604 A.2d 1010, 
1018 (Pa. 1992) (“A party may not remain silent and 
take his chances on a verdict then complain if it is 
adverse.”), citing Zeman v. Canonsburg Borough, 223 
A.2d 728, 729 (Pa. 1966); Wainwright v. Sykes, 433 
U.S. 72, 90 (1977) (contemporaneous-objection rule 
encourages as error-free a trial as is humanly 
possible, while assuring that the trial remains the 
“‘main event,’ so to speak, rather than a ‘tryout on 
the road’” for a later determinative hearing). After 
years of litigation that resulted in a $600 per class 
member judgment, the judicial interest in finality is 
considerable, and courts properly have little 
tolerance for post-trial objections disclaimed before 
verdict. 

                                                                                          
1291, 1296 (Pa. 1985) (emphasis added). Thus, the 
Pennsylvania Supreme Court has “held that issues not 
preserved at each stage of review, by a specific allegation of 
error, are waived and subsequently cannot be raised in an 
appeal to this Court.” Commonwealth v. Bronaugh, 331 A.2d 
171, 172 (Pa. 1975). 
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In holding Kia’s objections waived, the 
Pennsylvania Supreme Court found this case to be 
no different than Straub v. Cherne Indus., 880 A.2d 
561 (Pa. 2005). Pet. 75a. There, the trial court 
inquired whether the parties had any objections to 
the verdict sheets or proposed jury instructions, to 
which it received approving responses. Yet, after a 
verdict in favor of the plaintiffs, the defendant filed a 
post-trial motion, complaining about how the jury 
was permitted a split verdict, as had been explained 
in the instructions and permitted on the verdict 
form. Because any alleged error was evident before 
verdict and no objection was entered, the court held 
the objection waived. 

The contemporaneous-objection rule has 
operated consistently in Pennsylvania for a long 
time. Kia sat on its rights, if any, and should not be 
rewarded with an additional bite at the apple. 

III. KIA’S COMPLAINT ABOUT AGGREGATE 
DAMAGES IS MERITLESS. 

Underlying Kia’s present issue is a complaint, 
inadequately established below, that the classwide 
damages in this case were improperly assessed 
because no individualized claims process occurred. 
Putting aside Kia’s own candid concession about how 
unworkable such a process would be, Pet. App. 40a 
(hearings would involve “thousands of mini hearings, 
which would take years”), Kia’s argument is based on 
treating the trial and verdict as specific to named 
class representative Samuel-Bassett, with her 
modest $600 costs having been transformed into a 
5.6 million dollar verdict by an improper act of 
multiplication. Yet, the record translucently shows 
that this case was tried on a class basis and defended 
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on a class basis. Thus, for example, Kia’s counsel told 
the jury in closing that “ . . . if you believe that Ms. 
Samuel-Bassett has suffered a loss, if you believe 
that she has carried her burden of proving her loss as 
well as the loss of the 10,000 members in the State of 
Pennsylvania of this Class . . . ,” then you should rule 
in their favor. R. 3528a, 3537a, N.T. 73, 110, May, 
26, 2005 p.m.) (emphasis supplied). These remarks 
make it clear that Kia understood that the jury was 
making a decision about classwide liability and 
damages and pursued its trial strategy accordingly. 

Kia’s position also demonstrates a conflation 
of the measure of damages in contract cases, like this 
one, and the measure of damages in tort cases. Tort 
cases result in damages for compensatory harms and 
would consider the specific out-of-pocket expenses on 
a per-claimant basis. See Boggavarapu v. Ponist, 542 
A.2d 516, 518 (Pa. 1988) (“As a general proposition 
victims indeed must be compensated for all that they 
lose and all that they suffer from the tort of 
another.”). On the other hand, the breach of express 
warranty claim here is governed by 13 Pa. Consol. 
Stat. §§ 2313 & 2314 and is a form of contractual 
promise,12 meriting an award that returns the 
benefit of the bargain by providing the reasonable 
cost to cure, the diminution of value, or both. See, 
e.g., Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 351 (1979); 
5 Corbin on Contracts § 1091 (Corbin ed. 1964) 
(stating that “[t]he injured party should not be 
deprived of damages measured by the cost of curing 
defects, merely on the ground that he chooses to use 

                                            
12 Keller v. Volkswagen of America, Inc., 733 A.2d 642, 

644-45 (Pa. Super. 1999) (breach of warranty is essentially an 
action for breach of contract). 
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the building in its defective character”); Restatement 
(Second) of Contracts: Alternative to Loss in Value of 
Performance § 348 (1981) & comment c (“Sometimes, 
especially if the performance is defective as 
distinguished from incomplete, it may not be possible 
to prove the loss in value to the injured party with 
reasonable certainty. In that case he can usually 
recover damages based on the cost to remedy the 
defects.”). In addition, the Class’s claim under 
Magnuson-Moss properly considers aggregate 
damage proof, including the repair and replacement 
testimony of plaintiff’s expert. See A. Conte & H. 
Newberg, Newberg on Class Actions § 10.4 & n.5 (4th 
ed. 2002) (“several different statutes authorize 
collective damage awards in group actions by private 
parties” including the Magnuson-Moss Warranty 
Act). 

The Class’s expert testified that repair costs 
for the vehicles would amount to $1,005 over the life 
of the car. Each class member was entitled to recover 
sufficient funds to permit the purchaser to effectuate 
all necessary foreseeable repairs. See, e.g., In re Gen. 
Motors Corp. Pick-Up Truck Fuel Tank Prods. Liab. 
Litig., 55 F.3d 768, 816-17 (3d Cir. 1995) (citing 
U.C.C. § 2-714(1)). Hence, the allowable 
compensatory damages for breach of contract are 
measured by foresight based on the benefit of the 
bargain (excluding consequential damages not 
contemplated by the parties). See Restatement 
(Second) of Contracts, § 330. Indeed, unlike a tort 
claim, a uniform breach of the warranty promise that 
each car was “free from defects in material and 
workmanship,” as here, would entitle every class 
member to at least nominal damages, regardless of 
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out-of-pocket expense. See Elia v. Olszewski, 84 A.2d 
188, 191 (Pa. 1951). 

The record established that Kia could not 
repair the model-wide defect to a conforming 
condition, making it appropriate to recover damages 
for the nonconformity of whatever loss results “in the 
ordinary course of events from the seller’s breach as 
determined in any manner which is reasonable.” 
U.C.C. § 2-714(1). See also In re Gen. Motors, 55 F.3d 
at 816-17 (this “alternative measure of damages” 
“has the advantage of avoiding the speculative 
exercise of ascertaining the hypothetical value of 
defect-free trucks.”). 

Thus, the jury was entitled to award each 
class member up to an amount that would cover the 
reasonable cost to cure the defect for the life of the 
vehicles and, in fact, awarded an amount within the 
upper limit established at trial. For this reason, no 
purpose would be served by excusing Kia’s waiver 
and sending the case back on Kia’s new due-process 
complaint, because Kia’s argument is premised on an 
improper conception of the contractual damages at 
issue. 

Nor do Kia’s due-process precedents compel a 
different result. For example, Kia claims support 
from McLaughlin v. American Tobacco Co., 522 F.3d 
215 (2d Cir. 2008), abrogated by Bridge v. Phoenix 
Bond & Indemnity Co., 553 U.S. 639 (2008). Pet. 23. 
McLaughlin held, contrary to Bridge, that reliance 
was an element of a civil RICO claim. Id. at 222. 
Even so, it did not adopt the categorical stance that 
Kia ascribes to it. Instead, it found that in the 
context of a case alleging that tobacco companies 
fraudulently induced class members to smoke “light” 
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cigarettes having marketed them as healthier than 
full-flavored cigarettes, it was not clear that all class 
members had chosen to smoke lights for that reason. 
Instead, the court found individualized proof 
necessary “to overcome the possibility that a member 
of the purported class purchased Lights for some 
[other] reason,” such as taste. Id. at 223. In contrast, 
the breach of express warranty by common defect 
here affected all class members.13 

At its essence, unlike the argument about 
damages now propounded, Kia’s complaint is with 
Pennsylvania’s approach to class certification, on 
which it expended nearly all of its energy and 
objections below. That complaint, however, has no 
merit, as this Court has acknowledged that even 
those States that have adopted language identical to 
Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 may interpret and apply it 
differently without offending due process. Smith v. 
Bayer Corp., --- U.S. ----, 131 S. Ct. 2368 (2011). 

CONCLUSION 

The petition for a writ of certiorari should be 
denied. 

Date: May 21, 2012 Respectfully submitted, 

Robert S. Peck 
Counsel of Record 
CENTER FOR 

CONSTITUTIONAL 
                                            

13 In warranty/contract cases, “‘reliance,’ or ‘justificable 
reliance’ more specifically, is not an element that the class must 
prove to recover for a breach of contract.” Liss & Marion, P.C. v. 
Recordex Acquisition Corp., 983 A.2d 652, 665 (Pa. 2009). 
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APPENDIX A: 

JURY VERDICT SPECIAL 
INTERROGATORIES (MAY, 27, 2005) 

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS 
OF PHILADELPHIA COUNTY 

 
CIVIL TRIAL DIVISION 

 
SHAMELL SAMUEL-BASSETT  : JANUARY  
on behalf of herself and all : TERM, 2001 
others similarly situated : 
 : 
vs. : 
 : 
KIA MOTORS AMERICA, INC : NO. 2199 
 

JURY VERDICT 
SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES 

 
Question No. 1: 
 
 Did defendant breach its express warranty on 
the cars purchased by the class: 
 

  Yes   No 
 
Go to question No. 2 
 
Question No. 2: 
 
 Did defendant breach its implied warranty on 
the cars purchased by the class? 
 

 Yes   No 
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(If you answered no to question 1 and 2 you have 
reached a verdict. Go to question 3 only if you 
answered yes to question 1 or question 2) 
 
Question No. 3: 
 
 Did the defendant fail to remedy the common 
defect without charge after being given the 
opportunity to cure the problem? 
 

  Yes   No 
 
Answer questions 4 and 5. 
 
Question No. 4: 
 
 State the amount of damages if any, sustained 
by each Class member: 

a) The difference in value, if any, of the 
Sephia as warranted compared to the 
Sephia as delivered. 

 
 $    0 
 
Question No. 5: 
 
 State the amount of damages if any, sustained 
by each Class member: 

b) For repair expenses, reasonably 
incurred, as a result of defendant’s 
breach of warranty. 

  
 $  600.00 
 
 
5-27-05  SIGNED /s/     
DATE  FOREPERSON 
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APPENDIX B: 

AMENDED COMPLAINT – CLASS ACTION 
(MAR. 27, 2001) - EXCERPT 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF 

PENNSYLVANIA 

__________________________  
Shamell Samuel-Bassett,  : 
 Plaintiff, : 
 : Civil Action No. 
 : 01-CV-703 
v. : 
 : 
Kia Motors America, Inc. : CLASS ACTION 
 Defendant.   : 
__________________________ : 

AMENDED COMPLAINT - CLASS ACTION 

I. NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. Plaintiff brings this action on her own 
behalf and on behalf of all other persons similarly 
situated for damages arising from Defendant’s 
violation of the Pennsylvania Unfair Trade Practices 
and Consumer Protection Law, 73 P.S. § 201-1 et 
seq. (“CPL”), breaches of implied and express 
warranties, and violations of the Magnuson-Moss 
Warranty Improvement Act, (“MMWA”), 15 U.S.C. § 
2301 et seq. 

2. Defendant’s “Sephia” automobiles (the 
“Sephia,” “Sephia vehicle,” “Sephia vehicles,” or 
“vehicles”) contain a defective brake system that 
substantially affects their use, value, and safety. 
Specifically, the brakes pre-maturely wear and/or 
malfunction causing the Sephia vehicle to be unable 
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to stop, suffer an impaired stopping performance, 
exhibit increased stopping distances, brake shudder, 
brake vibration, unpredictable and violent brake 
pedal pressures, brake lock up, and loss of control 
when activated, all of which diminishes the Sephia 
vehicle’s value (the “brake system defect”). The brake 
system defect causes brake pads and rotors to 
excessively wear, squeal and groan, requiring 
constant repair attempts and replacement. As a 
result, purchasers and lessees of defendant’s 
“Sephia” are at serious risk of sudden, unexpected, 
and dangerous occurrences, including but not limited 
to being unable to stop the vehicles in a safe and 
reliable manner. Moreover, consumers of defendant’s 
“Sephia” automobiles are being deprived of normal 
and reasonable use of the vehicles, without 
alternatives, other than to drive with the defect 
and/or to return the vehicles for constant, ineffective 
repair attempts on a regular basis. Additionally, 
defendant, acting through its authorized dealers, 
violates the express and implied warranties that 
have been given with the Sephia vehicles by failing 
to extend warranty coverage for needed repairs 
and/or by charging consumers for repairs and 
replacements necessitated by the brake system 
defect.  

 
* * *
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APPENDIX C: 

DEFENDANT KIA MOTORS AMERICA, INC.’S 
SUPPLEMENTAL MOTION FOR POST-TRIAL 

RELIEF (JULY 15, 2005) 

 
William H. Lamb  
James C. Sargent, Jr.  
Maureen M. McBride  
John J. Cunningham, IV  
Scot R. Withers  
I.D. Nos. 04927/28642/57668/70975/84309 
LAMB McERLANE PC  
24 E. Market Street, Box 565 
West Chester, PA 19381-0565 
(610) 430-8000 

Attorneys for Defendant Kia Motors America, Inc.  

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS  
OF PHILADELPHIA COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA 

CIVIL TRIAL DIVISION  
 
SHAMELL SAMUEL-BASSETT  : JANUARY  
on behalf of herself and all : TERM 2001 
others similarly situated, : 
 : NO. 2199 
 Plaintiff : 
  : CLASS ACTION 

v. : 
 : 
KIA MOTORS AMERICA, INC., : 
 : 
 Defendant : 
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DEFENDANT KIA MOTORS AMERICA, INC.’S 
SUPPLEMENTAL1 MOTION FOR  

POST-TRIAL RELIEF 
 

Defendant Kia Motors America, Inc. 
(hereinafter “KMA”), through undersigned counsel, 
Lamb McErlane PC, respectfully requests that this 
Honorable Court enter judgment in KMA’s favor 
notwithstanding the jury’s verdict or grant KMA a 
new trial pursuant to Pennsylvania Rule of Civil 
Procedure 227.1 for the following reasons:  

MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING 
THE VERDICT 

 
KMA respectfully moves this Honorable Court 

to enter judgment in KMA’s favor notwithstanding 
the jury’s verdict pursuant to Pennsylvania Rule of 
Civil Procedure 227.1(a)(2), and in support thereof, 
avers as follows:  

1. The trial court erred in failing to 
instruct the jury as requested by KMA that 
plaintiffs’ claims for violation of the Magnuson-Moss 
Warranty Improvement Act (the “Magnuson-Moss 
Act”) and breach of express warranty were either 
barred or limited by KMA’s express Limited 
Warranty, i.e., were limited “solely to the repair or 
replacement of parts defective in Kia-supplied 
material or workmanship by an Authorized Kia 
Dealer at its place of business” and specifically 
excluded “brake and clutch linings ...”, and the jury’s 

                                                            
1 By Order dated June 15, 2005, at the request of 

Defendant arising from the unavailability of the official 
transcript at the time, the Court granted Defendant leave to file 
supplemental post-trial motions. For the convenience of the 
parties and this Court, and in order to avoid confusion, this 
supplemental filing includes all of the grounds that are asserted 
by Defendant in support of its request for post-trial relief. 
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verdict and the Court’s molded verdict on these two 
causes of action are contrary to law, not supported by 
sufficient evidence and are against the weight of the 
evidence as a result of KMA’s express Limited 
Warranty.  

2. Because no evidence was presented at 
trial that KMA failed or refused to repair Plaintiffs 
car or each other class member’s car, the trial court 
erred in denying KMA’s motion for nonsuit and 
motion for directed verdict on plaintiffs’ breach of 
express warranty claim, and the jury’s verdict and 
the Court’s molded verdict are contrary to law and 
not based on any evidence, much less sufficient 
evidence, and are against the weight of the evidence.  

3. The trial court erred in granting 
plaintiffs’ Motion for Class Certification, and the 
jury’s verdict and the Court’s molded verdict are 
contrary to law and not supported by sufficient 
evidence and are against the weight of the evidence, 
because plaintiffs failed to allege or establish that 
there was any express representation that the 
consumable portions of the braking system would 
last for any a specified minimum number of years or 
vehicle miles.  

4. The trial court erred in granting 
plaintiffs’ Motion for Class Certification since the 
requirements of Pa.R.C.P. Nos. 1702 and 1708 were 
not met. In particular: (i) a class action is not a fair 
and efficient method for adjudication of this 
controversy, as required under Pa.R.C.P. Nos. 
1702(5) and 1708(a)(2); (ii) the claims of multiple 
sub-classes of differently situated class members 
were erroneously joined for purposes of trial, 
resulting in prejudice to KMA and an unfair trial; 
(iii) common questions of law or fact did not 
predominate over questions involving only individual 
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class members in this case, particularly because 
proof of materiality, malfunction, manifestation, 
reliance, causation, damages, and of an opportunity 
for KMA to make repairs and failure or refusal to 
honor its warranty, must be shown on an individual 
basis and cannot be presumed; (iv) the claims or 
defenses of the sole representative are not typical of 
the claims or defenses of the class, as required by 
Pa.R.C.P. No. 1702(3)—Bassett did not fairly and 
adequately assert and protect the interests of the 
class, and she is otherwise not a proper class 
representative, and a class cannot be certified or 
maintained in the absence of a proper class 
representative; (v) plaintiffs failed to establish that 
the class is comprised of persons that experienced, 
inter alia, manifestation of the alleged defect and a 
breach by KMA of the warranty; (vi) plaintiffs failed 
to establish typicality; (vii) no choice of law analysis 
was undertaken to determine whether there is 
commonality with regard to the substantive law of 
states other than Pennsylvania applicable to 
plaintiffs’ claims, in violation of KMA’s right to due 
process under Article I, Section 9 of the Pennsylvania 
Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment to the 
United States Constitution; and (viii) this class was 
improperly certified as an “opt out” class, requiring 
an affirmative act on the part of any class member 
who received notice of the class action and did not 
want to participate as a member of the class. As one 
or more of these are necessary elements of all of 
plaintiffs’ claims, it was improper for the trial court 
to certify this class and allow the purported class 
claims to go to the jury and verdict. 

5. The trial court further erred in granting 
plaintiffs’ Motion for Class Certification, and the 
jury’s verdict and the Court’s molded verdict are 
contrary to law and not supported by sufficient 
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evidence and are against the weight of the evidence, 
because plaintiff failed to present evidence, on a 
class wide basis, that individual class members each 
satisfied the elements necessary to prove claims 
under the Magnuson-Moss Act and for breach of 
express warranty. For example: (i) the evidence did 
not establish the existence of a common defect, and 
even if a common defect existed, a common defect 
alone is not sufficient to justify class certification 
without proof, inter alia, of manifestation, 
opportunity and failure to repair; (ii) the evidence 
established that the brake systems in class member 
vehicles differed from year to year; (iii) the evidence 
established that Bassett’s vehicle was a 2000 model 
year, which had a different braking system from the 
braking system in many class members’ vehicles and 
therefore her claims were not typical of the class; (iv) 
the evidence failed to distinguish between individual 
class members who had claims related to consumable 
portions of the brake system such as pad 
replacement, rotor replacement, or caliper 
replacement from individual class members who had 
claims related to an alleged failure to stop the 
vehicle or from those who experienced non-safety 
related grinding, shuddering and vibration; (v) the 
evidence failed to establish that the class is actually 
comprised of persons that experienced manifestation 
of the alleged defect and breach by KMA of the 
warranty and hence that the class is sufficiently 
numerous; (vi) the evidence established that all 
claims of class members who took delivery of their 
vehicles prior to January 17, 1997, are time barred; 
(vii) there was no proof of materiality, reliance, 
manifestation, opportunity and failure to repair and 
causation, which are necessary elements of plaintiffs’ 
claims; (viii) there is no evidence whatsoever that 
any member of the class saw KMA’s express 
warranty prior to purchasing his or her vehicle and 
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relied upon the express warranty as to the brakes in 
these cars in making the decision to purchase the 
vehicle; (ix) plaintiffs failed to establish that any 
plaintiff gave KMA the requisite pre-litigation notice 
about the alleged defect in the brakes, which 
prevented KMA from having the opportunity to 
repair the alleged problem, to mitigate damages 
and/or to fix the alleged problem in future vehicles; 
(x) the evidence established that KMA complied with 
its obligations under the express warranty, with 
respect to the named plaintiff and other members of 
the class; and (xi) plaintiffs failed to establish: (a) 
that KMA, not some intervening agency or 
instrumentality over which KMA had no control or 
right of control (such as a non-KMA dealer repair or 
maintenance), caused each plaintiffs problems in 
each plaintiffs brake system; (b) that gray market 
parts and supplies were not used; (c) that each 
plaintiff has preserved all relevant evidence and that 
there is no spoliation of evidence; (d) that each 
plaintiff used each vehicle reasonably and did not 
abuse it; (e) that none of the class member’s brake 
systems were infiltrated with foreign substances, 
conditions or materials; (f) that replacement parts, 
supplies or component parts were installed properly 
in each class member’s vehicle; (g) that none of the 
automobiles were substantially changed or altered by 
the superseding, intervening acts and/or omissions of 
a third party or parties; and (h) that in no instance 
did repairs under warranty actually eliminated the 
alleged defect. 

6. The trial court erred in granting the 
Motion for Class Certification and in defining the 
class in overbroad and vague terms such that the 
class as defined improperly consists of: (i) members 
who are not in privity with KMA; (ii) members who 
purchased and/or leased model year 1995-2001 
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Sephia automobiles where no Sephias were sold in 
Pennsylvania until the 1997 model year; (iii) 
members who have not experienced a brake problem 
or suffered a problem that was satisfactorily 
repaired/replaced by KMA at no charge; (iv) 
members who were not residents of the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania when they 
purchased or leased their Sephia automobiles, and 
for persons who purchased their Sephia automobiles 
outside of Pennsylvania; (v) members who purchased 
or leased vehicles and no longer own or lease their 
vehicles; (vi) members who have not and never will 
experience the alleged defect in their brakes; and 
(vii) members who have no claim whatsoever against 
KMA, in violation of KMA’s right to due process 
under Article I, Section 9 of the Pennsylvania 
Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment to the 
United States Constitution. 

7. The trial court erred in granting 
plaintiffs’ Motion for Class Certification, and the 
jury’s verdict and the Court’s molded verdict are 
contrary to law and not based on sufficient evidence 
and are against the weight of the evidence, because: 
(i) the class members have experienced no 
malfunction and sustained no damages, monetary or 
otherwise, as a result of any action or inaction by 
KMA, hence, there is no manifestation of any alleged 
breach of warranty on a class-wide basis, and, 
therefore, plaintiffs cannot recover under any of their 
theories of liability; (ii) plaintiffs failed to offer any 
evidence of manifestation of the alleged defect on a 
class-wide basis-in fact, the evidence established that 
alleged defect never has and never will manifest 
itself in many of the class members’ automobiles; and 
(iii) there was no evidence that the alleged defect 
actually caused damages to the plaintiff class. 
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8. The trial court erred in granting 
plaintiffs’ Motion for Class Certification, and the 
jury’s verdict and the Court’s molded verdict are 
contrary to law and not based on sufficient evidence 
and are against the weight of the evidence, where 
plaintiffs failed to establish the existence and extent 
of actual damages, including out-of-pocket repair 
costs and diminished value of vehicles, that had been 
incurred by the class members. 

9. The trial court erred in denying 
plaintiffs’ motion to bifurcate trial and in ruling that 
“[e]ach class member’s entitlement to recover if 
plaintiff class prevails, shall be determined at claims 
proceedings”, particularly since in so ruling the trial 
court implicitly recognized that members of the class 
have no claims against KMA. The time for 
determining whether class members have claims 
against KMA is at trial, not “at claims proceedings” 
following trial and verdict. The trial court’s inclusion 
of members in the class who in fact have no claim 
against KMA violated KMA’s right to due process 
under Article I, Section 9 of the Pennsylvania 
Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment to the 
United States Constitution. 

10. The trial court’s certification of the class 
and entry of a molded verdict in favor of all class 
members in the absence of testimony that 
established liability under the Magnuson-Moss Act 
and for breach of express warranty violated KMA’s 
right to due process under Article I, Section 9 of the 
Pennsylvania Constitution and the Fourteenth 
Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

11. The trial court erred in sua sponte 
granting an additur and/or molding the jury’s verdict 
to a verdict in favor of all class members in the 
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absence of any evidence that such class members 
were entitled to a verdict in their favor. 

12. As a result of the errors set forth herein, 
the trial court must order that the class in this case 
be decertified pursuant to Pa.R.C.P. 1710. 

13. The trial court erred in denying KMA’s 
Motion for Nonsuit and in denying KMA’s Motion for 
Directed Verdict. 

14. The trial court erred in failing to 
approve the settlement that had been agreed to by 
the parties and presented to the court for approval. 

15. To the extent deemed necessary or 
appropriate as grounds for judgment 
notwithstanding the verdict, KMA hereby 
incorporates by reference as if fully contained herein 
the averments contained in paragraphs 1 6 through 
23 below. 

MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL 

Defendant moves this Honorable Court for a 
new trial of this case for the following reasons: 

16. The trial court erred in its rulings on 
the motions in limine. In particular, the trial court 
erred in: (i) denying KMA’s Motion in Limine to 
preclude the expert testimony of John P. Matthews, 
Ph.D; (ii) denying KMA’s Motion in Limine to 
exclude the testimony of plaintiffs’ purported expert 
R. Scott King; (iii) denying KMA’s Motion in Limine 
to preclude the presentation at trial of any videotape 
testimony of Peter M. Butterfield; (iv) denying 
KMA’s Motion in Limine to exclude all evidence of 
any complaints filed with NHTSA; (iv) denying 
KMA’s Motion in Limine to preclude testimony based 
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on the supplemental expert report of John P. 
Matthews; (v) denying KMA’s Motion in Limine to 
exclude Dr. Matthews’ testimony as to his calculation 
of damages; (vi) granting plaintiffs’ Motion in Limine 
to preclude any references to the absence of a 
NHTSA investigation; and (vii) granting plaintiffs’ 
Motion in Limine to preclude expert testimony and 
references to images of Kia Motors Corporation 
facilities. 

17. The trial court erred in its evidentiary 
rulings at trial. In particular, the trial court erred in 
overruling KMA’s objections at trial, including 
KMA’s objections, inter alia, to the following 
evidence: (i) the T.A.C. incident report; (ii) the 
testimony of R. Scott King; (iii) testimony relating to 
KMA not making new rotors available to customers 
in the United States without charge; (iv) Dr. 
Matthews’s testimony to damages which was 
speculative and not based on any analysis that is 
scientifically sound or generally accepted; (v) Dr. 
Matthews’s testimony as to differences in 
depreciation value of Kia Sephia automobiles versus 
other automobile manufacturer vehicles, since Dr. 
Matthews was unable to establish that any higher 
depreciation rate was caused by the alleged brake 
defect. In addition, the trial court erred in sustaining 
plaintiffs’ objection to KMA’s exhibit D-1, the 
declaration of Y.S. Sohn, being admitted into 
evidence. 

18. The trial court erred in directing that 
KMA’s expert witness, Bruce Bowman, be deposed on 
the eve of trial, which prejudiced KMA in its trial 
preparation. 

19. The trial court erred in its rulings on 
objections at the charging conference. In particular, 
the trial court erred in: (i) refusing to charge the jury 
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with the phrases “market price” or “fair market 
value” in place of “contract price” as requested by 
KMA; (ii) overruling KMA’s objections to the court’s 
proposed instruction on damages on plaintiffs’, 
breach of warranty claims, including the court’s 
failure to charge with the words “actually incurred”; 
and (iii) refusing to give KMA’s charge on 
manifestation “during the warranty period,” which 
was KMA proposed charge No. 26. 

20. The trial court erred in not giving 
KMAYs Proposed Jury Instructions, and in 
particular in failing to give KMA’s Proposed 
Instruction No. 37 that had been agreed upon by the 
parties prior to the charge, and in charging the jury 
that KMA wanted one trial for all class members. 

21. The trial court erred in overruling 
KMA’s objection to the jury verdict form, in not 
adopting KMA’s Proposed Special Verdict Form, and 
in excluding from the special verdict form questions 
relating to a common brake system and a common 
defect throughout all class vehicles. 

22. The trial court erred in allowing claims 
that should not have been certified and/or should 
have been dismissed to be tried together with other 
claims, which had the effect of confusing the jury and 
severely prejudicing KMA. The effect, individually 
and in combination, of the Court’s rulings against 
KMA and the conduct of the trial generally was to 
deny KMA a fair trial. 

23. To the extent deemed necessary or 
appropriate as grounds for judgment 
notwithstanding the verdict, KMA hereby 
incorporates by reference as if fully contained herein 
the averments contained in paragraphs 1 through 15 
above. 
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REQUEST FOR COURT EN BANC 

24. KMA respectfully requests that its 
Motion for Post-Trial Relief be heard and decided by 
the Court En Banc. 

Respectfully submitted, 

LAMB McERLANE PC 

Dated: July 15, 2005  /S/ 
William H. Lamb 
James C. Sargent, Jr. 
Maureen M. McBride 
John J. Cunningham, IV 
Scot R. Withers 
I.D. Nos. 04927/28642/ 57668/ 
70975/84309 
24 E. Market Street, Box 565 
West Chester, PA 19381 
(610) 430-8000 
Attorneys for Defendant 
Kia Motors America, Inc. 


